Old Dominion University ODU Digital Commons

Rehabilitation Sciences Theses & Dissertations

School of Rehabilitation Sciences

Spring 2024

Reliability of Popliteal Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation in the Seated Position

Taskina Akhter Old Dominion University, taskina.akhter@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/pt_etds

Part of the Biomechanics Commons, Exercise Science Commons, and the Pathology Commons

Recommended Citation

Akhter, Taskina. "Reliability of Popliteal Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation in the Seated Position" (2024). Master of Science (MS), Thesis, Rehabilitation Sciences, Old Dominion University, DOI: 10.25777/ hwt5-6102

https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/pt_etds/29

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Rehabilitation Sciences at ODU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Rehabilitation Sciences Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ODU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@odu.edu.

RELIABILITY OF POPLITEAL ARTERY FLOW-MEDIATED DILATION IN THE

SEATED POSITION

by

Taskina Akhter M.B.B.S May 2016, University of Dhaka, Bangladesh

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Old Dominion University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

EXERCISE SCIENCE

OLD DOMINION UNIVERSITY January 2024

Approved by:

Leryn J Reynolds (Director)

Patrick Wilson (Member)

J. David Branch (Member)

ABSTRACT

RELIABILITY OF POPLITEAL ARTERY FLOW-MEDIATED DILATION IN THE SEATED POSITION

Taskina Akhter Old Dominion University, 2023 Director: Dr. Leryn J Reynolds

Flow-mediated dilation (FMD) is a noninvasive measurement of endothelial function, which is a useful prognostic tool for cardiovascular disease risk. Despite its widespread use since 1992, the reproducibility of FMD varies widely between studies. This variability in reproducibility is especially significant in the case of the popliteal artery due to different methodological approaches. Studies perform popliteal FMD in various body positions, with the prone and seated positions most common. However, no studies have examined the reproducibility of both the seated and prone positions of the popliteal artery FMD. Therefore, the aim of this study is to examine the test-retest and visit-to-visit reliability of the popliteal artery FMD in the seated position and to see whether differences in % FMD exist between seated and prone positions. The popliteal artery FMD was measured on two occasions in twenty healthy young adults, both in seated and prone positions. Popliteal artery diameter was measured at baseline, during 5 minutes of cuff occlusion at 220 mmHg, and following cuff deflation. FMD was calculated as the percent change from baseline diameter to peak diameter. The reliability of FMD measures were assessed in the prone and seated positions via intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC). Further, differences in FMD measures between the prone and seated positions were assessed via the three-way repeated measures analysis of variance (body position x visit x trial). The results demonstrate that the popliteal artery %FMD is reliable in the seated position both within and between visits (ICC value from 0.67 to 0.89), whereas the prone position has poor-to-moderate reliability within and between visits (ICC value

from 0.25 to 0.74). To conclude, the popliteal artery FMD has a good reliability when measured in the seated position which can contribute to the development of a standard protocol to measure the FMD in the seated position.

Copyright, 2023, by Taskina Akhter, All Rights Reserved.

This thesis is dedicated to my daughter Tazmeen Binte Sadique, who has made me firmly believe that, "Verily, with every hardship comes ease".

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, my words are not enough to express my gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Leryn J Reynolds, for her guidance, invaluable patience, and motivation over the many versions and edits of this journey, which eventually became this thesis. Her knowledge and expertise in flow mediated dilation, were indispensable to this research. The completion of this study could not have been possible without her immense support that I have received. I am thankful to Dr. J. David Branch for his generous support, encouragement, and expertise in statistics, which were invaluable to this research. I have learned to be more sincere and dedicated to work from him, which pushed me further into this research work. I am grateful to Dr. Patrick Wilson for being a guiding force since I joined this program. I believe his guidance, critiques, and enthusiasm have helped me gain the perspective that enabled me to write this thesis. In addition, I would like to thank Joel Ernest Harden for helping me learn FMD techniques practically and providing me assistance whenever I needed it throughout this thesis journey. I am grateful to everyone who participated in my thesis study and helped me complete it on time. Finally, I would love to acknowledge my parents and husband for their unconditional love and support.

NOMENCLATURE

ANOVA	Analysis of Variance	
BMI	Body Mass Index	
B-mode	Brightness-mode	
Ca ²⁺	Calcium	
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate	
CI	Confidence Intervals	
CV	Coefficient of Variation	
CVDs	Cardiovascular diseases	
DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure	
ECG	Electrocardiogram	
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase	
FMD	Flow-mediated dilation	
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate	
HR	Heart RSDate	
ICC	Intraclass Correlation Coefficient	
IRB	Institutional Review Board	
NO	Nitric oxide	
L-NMMA	N(G)-monomethyl L-arginine	
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure	
SD	Standard deviation	
VSM	Vascular smooth muscle	

WHO World Health Organization

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
LIST OF	TABLES	xi
LIST OF	FIGURES	xii
Chapter		
Chapter		
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	BACKGROUND	1
	STATEMENT OF PROBLEM	2
	SIGNIFICANCE OF STUDY	3
	PURPOSE OF STUDY	4
	HYPOTHESIS	5
	LIMITATIONS	5
	DELIMITATIONS	5
	OPERATIONAL DEFINITIONS	5
	SIGNIFICANCE/RATIONALE	6
II.	LITERATURE REVIEW	8
	PHYSIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF FMD	9
	CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF FMD	10
	FMD RELIABILITY STUDIES	12
	BODY POSITIONS AND HEMODYNAMICS	13
	METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATION OF FMD	14
	CUFF POSITION	15
	CUFF OCCLUSION DURATION AND MAGNITUDE	16
	CUFF DEFLATION MEASUREMENT	
	BASELINE DIAMETER	
	EDGE DETECTION AND WALL TRACKING.	
	SHEER STIMULUS NORMALIZATION	
	SUBJECT PREPARATION	
	ULTRASOUND ASSESSMENT OF FLOW-MEDIATED	
	DILATION	
	SUMMARY	19
III.	METHODOLOGY	22
	PARTICIPANTS	22
	STUDY DESIGN	22
	EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL	25
	DATA ANALYSIS	27
	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	27
IV.	RESULTS	29

Page

	CHARACTERISTICS OF THE PARTICIPANTS	
	FMD VARIABLES AND MEASUREMENTS	
	MEASURES OF RELIABILITY OF THE POPLITEAL AR'	TERY IN
	THE PRONE POSITION	
	MEASURES OF RELIABILITY OF THE POPLITEAL AR'	ΓERY IN
	THE SEATED POSITION	
V.	DISCUSSION	35
	LIMITATIONS	
	CONCLUSION	
	REFERENCES	40
	VITA	62

LIST OF TABLES

Table	
	1. Impact of Body Positions on Cardiovascular Variables14
	2. Subject Characteristics
	3. ICC Values of FMD Measurements of Popliteal Artery in the Prone Position32
	4. ICC Values of FMD Measurements of Popliteal Artery in the Seated Position34

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	
1. Experimental Design of the Study	24
2. FMD Variables and Measures	30

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Background

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are the leading cause of death globally, claiming an estimated 17.9 million lives each year, which is about 32% of total deaths globally (World Health Organization, 2021). Individuals with hypertension, diabetes, advanced age, and physical inactivity are at a greater risk for developing CVDs (Dhingra & Vasan, 2012; Fletcher et al., 1996; Fuchs & Whelton, 2020). A hallmark sign of CVD is impaired endothelial function (Davignon & Ganz, 2004).

The endothelium is critical for regulating vascular tone in response to various stimuli (e.g., shear stress, circumferential wall strain) and maintaining vascular health (Green, Maiorana, O'Driscoll, & Taylor, 2004). One non-invasive method of measuring endothelial function is Flowmediated dilation (FMD), which is used to determine endothelial-dependent vasodilatory function (Thijssen et al., 2019). This test measures the vasodilatory response of conduit arteries following post-occlusive reactive hyperemia of a distal limb using high-resolution doppler ultrasonography (Green, Dawson, Groenewoud, Jones, & Thijssen, 2014). Reflecting local nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability, FMD helps in identification of pre-clinical vascular disease initiation and progression and the impact of acute and long-term interventions (Deanfield, Halcox, & Rabelink, 2007; Inaba, Chen, & Bergmann, 2010). It was found that even a reduction of 1% in FMD is associated with up to 13% increased risk of developing future CVD (Inaba et al., 2010).

Thus, FMD testing is crucial as a surrogate marker of cardiovascular risk (Gokce et al., 2002; Kuvin et al., 2001; Neunteufl et al., 2000; Perticone et al., 2001; Vita & Keaney Jr, 2002).

The measurement of endothelial function using FMD is a popular research tool due to its non-invasive nature, ability to predict cardiovascular events (Inaba et al., 2010; Ras, Streppel, Draijer, & Zock, 2013; Thijssen et al., 2011; Vita & Keaney Jr, 2002) and correlation to coronary artery endothelial function (Anderson et al., 1995; Broxterman et al., 2019; Takase et al., 1998).

Statement of Problem

The application of FMD in peripheral conduit arteries such as the brachial, radial, superficial femoral, and popliteal arteries has been increasing both in clinical and physiological studies (Betik, Luckham, & Hughson, 2004; Green et al., 2010; Kooijman et al., 2008). It is important as a diagnostic tool for FMD to have high test-retest reliability within and between visits to predict the accuracy and consistency of FMD. There are several studies that found conflicting results regarding the reliability of FMD in brachial and radial arteries due to high variability between repeated measures (Brook et al., 2005; Magda, Ciobanu, Florescu, & Vinereanu, 2013; Peretz et al., 2007; Welsch, Allen, & Geaghan, 2002).

While collectively a number of pre-testing and testing requirements are established such as subject preparation, test protocol, doppler ultrasound technique, and data analysis, there appears to be a lack of consensus on body position when examining popliteal artery %FMD (Thijssen et al., 2019). Numerous guideline papers have been published describing the pretesting and testing requirements of the brachial artery (including that the subject should be lying in the supine position); however, these guidelines do not exist for the popliteal artery (Corretti et al., 2002; Thijssen et al., 2011; Thijssen et al., 2019).

Several studies on popliteal artery %FMD have been done where the body positions of participants are variable such as sitting, prone, supine, or semi-recumbent positions, and many of these studies have focused on the effects of prolonged sitting on popliteal arteries with or without

physical activity or exercise interruptions (Broxterman et al., 2019; Kadoguchi, Horiuchi, Kinugawa, & Okita, 2020; Kruse, Hughes, Benzo, Carr, & Casey, 2018; Liu, O'Brien, Johns, & Kimmerly, 2021; Morishima et al., 2016; Morishima, Restaino, Walsh, Kanaley, & Padilla, 2017; Morishima, Tsuchiya, Ueda, Tsuji, & Ochi, 2020; Nakamura et al., 2019; Naylor et al., 2011; O'Brien, Johns, Al-Hinnawi, & Kimmerly, 2020; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, & Kimmerly, 2019; Padilla, Sheldon, Sitar, & Newcomer, 2009; Parker, Ridout, & Proctor, 2006; Peddie et al., 2021; Rakobowchuk et al., 2011; Restaino, Holwerda, Credeur, Fadel, & Padilla, 2015; Restaino et al., 2016; Teixeira, Padilla, & Vianna, 2017; Vranish et al., 2017; Wu, 2022). While in some studies, popliteal artery %FMD was measured while keeping the participants in a seated posture, in other studies, the researchers measured %FMD in the supine or prone position. Given the differences in hydrostatic pressure between supine or prone and seated positions (Restaino et al., 2015), it is likely that body position impacts FMD. However, to date, no studies have compared whether %FMD is different in the prone position compared to the seated position or the reliability of popliteal artery %FMD in the seated position.

Significance of Study

Lower limb arteries, especially popliteal arteries, are more vulnerable to developing atherosclerosis and vascular diseases, even though most of the FMD studies have used brachial arteries to predict the cardiovascular risks associated with endothelial dysfunction (Debasso et al., 2004; Inaba et al., 2010). An elevated risk of mortality from CVDs is linked to sedentary behavior (Katzmarzyk et al., 2019). Several studies have indicated a correlation between prolonged sitting and post-prandial cardiometabolic risk factors and vascular dysfunction (Dempsey et al., 2016; Grace et al., 2017; Morishima et al., 2016; Morishima et al., 2017).

A meta-analysis done by Paterson et. al (Paterson et al., 2020) states that lower limb arteries are more susceptible to developing endothelial dysfunction (via reduced %FMD) during prolonged sitting compared to the upper limb arteries. Also, atherosclerotic lesions develop first in the lower limb arteries before progressing to the upper limb arteries (Sanada et al., 2005). In addition, during the resting period, the shear rate decreases more in popliteal arteries than in brachial arteries (Nishiyama, Walter Wray, Berkstresser, Ramaswamy, & Richardson, 2007). Hence, the popliteal artery %FMD is increasingly utilized in clinical settings to evaluate CVD risk and in physiological research to evaluate endothelial function.

However, the difference in methodological approach in performing popliteal artery %FMD in different studies may impact the physiological responses. The inconsistent use of body position while measuring popliteal artery %FMD in different studies is an important methodological approach which may impact the reliability and comparison of results of different studies. So, there is a strong need for reliability of the popliteal artery FMD measures. This study has focused on the within and between visits reliability of popliteal artery %FMD in the seated position and has addressed whether differences in %FMD exist between seated and prone positions. This will provide greater insight into methodological approaches regarding body position when measuring popliteal artery %FMD.

Purpose of Study

Based on the author's knowledge, there have been no studies that have focused on the reliability of popliteal artery FMD measurements in the seated posture or studies examining differences in %FMD change between the seated and prone positions. This study has aimed to examine the testretest reliability (variability between repeated trials within a day) and visit-to-visit reliability of popliteal artery FMD measurement in the seated position. Further, this study has also examined whether differences exist in case of percentage of FMD change between the prone and seated positions in the popliteal artery.

Hypothesis

It is hypothesized that:

- a) There will be good reliability of popliteal artery %FMD in the seated position.
- b) The percentage change of popliteal artery FMD in the seated position will be decreased compared to the prone position.

Limitations

- a) This study has relied on self-reporting for co-morbidities.
- b) Blood samples were not taken to assess the variables that may influence the arterial response to vasodilatation.

Delimitations

- a) Standard anatomical position of the angle of the knee was between 60-70 degrees during the FMD test.
- b) FMD is influenced by age, sex, and physical activity (Thijssen et al., 2019). But in this study design, the participants are not evaluated based on these factors. We recruited subjects who are apparently young adults (18-45 years old) and healthy, ignoring these confounding factors.
- c) For measuring the popliteal artery FMD a resting period of 30 minutes was allowed for hemodynamic stability.

Operational Definitions

Prone position: Subjects lying flat, face down on the bed with their legs straight and knees at 0 degree.

Seated position: Subjects sitting with their knees bent at a 60–70-degree angle based on standard anatomical position.

Popliteal artery flow mediated dilation: Diameter in the popliteal artery was assessed before and after 5 minutes of cuff occlusion. The blood pressure cuff was placed ~10 cm distal to the popliteal fossa. During cuff inflation the pressure in the cuff was inflated to ~220 mmHg.

Popliteal artery blood flow: Blood flow in the popliteal artery was measured via duplex doppler ultrasound.

%FMD: the relative change (presented as a percentage) in artery diameter from baseline to peak. The formula is, %FMD = (maximal post deflation diameter – baseline diameter)/ (baseline diameter) \times 100%.

Reliability: the consistency and stability of any measurement, research result, or test refers to reliability.

Conduit artery: an artery with many collagen and elastic filaments in the tunica media, which gives it the ability to stretch in response to each pulse.

Atherosclerosis: thickening or hardening of arteries due to plaque buildup.

Shear stress: tangential force of the flowing blood on the endothelial surface of the blood vessels.

Reactive hyperemia: transient increase in blood flow following an interval of arterial occlusion.

Significance/Rationale

Endothelial dysfunction is a significant predictor of CVD (Harris, Nishiyama, Wray, & Richardson, 2010). Popliteal artery FMD is used in various studies to determine the impact of different interventions on endothelial function due to its high susceptibility to develop atherosclerosis (Hotta et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2021; Morishima et al., 2016; Morishima et al., 2020; Peddie et al., 2021; Rakobowchuk et al., 2008; Restaino et al., 2016). There are several body

positional approaches while performing popliteal artery FMD measurements, including seated, supine, prone, or semi-recumbent. As several studies are performing popliteal artery FMD measurements while keeping the participants in the seated position (Liu et al., 2021; O'Brien et al., 2020; O'Brien, Johns, Robinson, Mekary, & Kimmerly, 2019; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, et al., 2019), it is imperative that this methodological approach is reliable. Knowing the reliability of popliteal artery %FMD in the seated position will be useful in comparing results among popliteal artery %FMD in different body positions and evaluating future cardiovascular events based on endothelial dysfunction. However, there have not been any studies so far, according to the author's knowledge, which have focused on the reliability of popliteal artery FMD measurements in the seated position. Therefore, this study has determined the reliability of popliteal artery %FMD in the seated position and whether there are any differences in the percent change of popliteal artery FMD between the seated and prone positions.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Endothelium-dependent FMD is the vasodilatory response of a blood vessel due to increased blood flow-associated shear stress (Pyke & Tschakovsky, 2005). The methods of FMD measurement were described first in the literature in 1989 (Anderson & Mark, 1989). At present, FMD is a popular and widely used non-invasive tool for examining peripheral artery endothelium-dependent dilation, which was first developed in 1992 in a clinical research setting to test the risk of atherosclerosis of systemic arteries in young adults and children by using high-resolution ultrasonography (Celermajer et al., 1992). The FMD response is based on the introduction of the reactive hyperemia test (Anderson & Mark, 1989) that includes temporary occlusion of blood flow by applying a pressure cuff that creates ischemia and generates shear stress stimuli. When the pressure in the cuff is released, the resultant deflation induces reactive hyperemia. This increase in shear stress is a physiological stimulus resulting in vasodilation of blood vessels (Pyke & Tschakovsky, 2005).

This literature review includes the clinical significance of FMD, especially popliteal artery FMD, as an assessment tool of endothelial function and predictors of CVDs. This review also discusses the reliability of the FMD technique in the brachial artery; and how body position elicits hemodynamic changes which may alter FMD. Lastly, the influence of cuff placement, cuff occlusion timing, cuff occlusion pressure, and cuff deflation measures on FMD is also briefly discussed in the following review. The literature review also includes some technical approaches such as baseline diameter measurement, wall tracking, shear stimulus normalization, subject preparation, and ultrasonographic methods.

Physiological Aspects of FMD

Peripheral conduit arteries, which are often termed as muscular arteries because of the large relative proportion of vascular smooth muscle (VSM), are the primary arteries where FMD is measured. These peripheral arteries, including brachial, popliteal, and femoral arteries, are imperative for effective blood flow distribution (Smith & Fernhall, 2022). These conduit arteries are composed of three layers. The outermost layer containing blood supply for the artery is the tunica adventitia. The middle layer tunica media is primarily responsible for the maintenance of lumen diameter and vascular tone (Smith & Fernhall, 2022). The innermost layer, the tunica intima (i.e., endothelium), consists of a single layer of endothelial cells and lines the whole circulatory system. The endothelium is responsive to chemical and hemodynamic stimuli and its function is crucial to maintain vascular health and vascular tone (Cahill & Redmond, 2016). Studies demonstrate that when the aorta of a rabbit is stimulated with acetylcholine, vasodilation occurs. However, this only occurs in an intact endothelium (Furchgott & Zawadzki, 1980) which demonstrates the importance of the endothelium in the regulation of vascular homeostasis and vascular tone.

Several studies have focused on the fact that FMD is dependent on a nitric oxide (NO)mediated pathway (Doshi et al., 2001; Jiang, Seddon, Fok, Donald, & Chowienczyk, 2011; Joannides et al., 1995; Mullen et al., 2001). For example, in the presence of the NO inhibitor-N(G)-monomethyl L-arginine (L-NMMA), brachial artery FMD was abolished, and vasoconstriction ensued (Joannides et al., 1995). This demonstrates the essential role of nitric oxide in FMD.

NO acts as a vasodilator by activating cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) in the vascular smooth muscle cell (Joyner & Dietz, 1997). In a FMD test, the NO-cGMP pathway is

triggered when increased blood flow creates increased shear stress (Tousoulis, Antoniades, & Stefanadis, 2005). In response to increased shear stress, calcium (Ca²⁺)-activated potassium channels open. The opening of the potassium channels hyperpolarizes the endothelial cell, leading to entry of calcium ions (Corretti et al., 2002). Calcium increases the conversion of L-arginine to NO by activating endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) (Joannides et al., 1995; Pohl, Holtz, Busse, & Bassenge, 1986).

Other vasoactive agents like adenosine, bradykinin, serotonin, and substance P also increase calcium entry into the cell, thereby activating eNOS (Dawson et al., 2006; Deanfield et al., 2007). NO then diffuses through the endothelial cells into the vascular smooth muscle cells and influences the conversion of guanosine triphosphate (GTP) to cGMP by guanylate cyclase, leading to the conversion of GTP to cGMP and the phosphorylation of eNOS, which ultimately increases the production of NO and vasodilation (Corretti et al., 2002; Corson et al., 1996; Dimmeler et al., 1999). Cyclic GMP also produces vasodilatation by activating a cGMP-dependent protein kinase, inhibiting calcium entry into the VSM cells, and activating potassium channels (Archer et al., 1994). Although NO plays a prominent role in vasodilators such as prostaglandin and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (Scotland et al., 2005; Sun et al., 1999). These vasodilators, when activated, bind with receptors on the endothelial cell surface and cause vasodilation (Stankevičius, Kėvelaitis, Vainorius, & Simonsen, 2003).

Clinical Significance of FMD

Non-invasive methods for assessment of endothelial function are helpful for the early detection, risk stratification, therapeutic strategies, and preventive measures for reversing the pathophysiology of various CVDs (Sen, Chandran, Jaryal, & Deepak, 2020).

Endothelial dysfunction indicates a reduction in the ability of the endothelium to vasodilate in response to endothelium-dependent vasodilators (Hadi, Carr, & Al Suwaidi, 2005). This reduction in endothelial function can predict and precede the development of CVD (Stanhewicz, Wenner, & Stachenfeld, 2018). Endothelial dysfunction can be detected at an early stage of atherosclerosis which facilitates earlier detection of CVD (Deanfield et al., 2007; Takase et al., 1998). This atherosclerosis can be a predisposing factor for myocardial infarction, stroke, unstable thrombotic events, and plaque instability (Bennett, Sinha, & Owens, 2016).

Endothelial dysfunction has been implicated not only in hypertension and diabetes but also other pathophysiological processes, such as renal failure, coronary syndrome, in microalbuminuria, thrombosis, intravascular coagulation, sickle cell anemia, bipolar disorder, preeclampsia, dyslipidemia, hyperhomocysteinemia, rheumatoid arthritis, periodontitis, low birth weight, mental stress, and sleep apnea syndrome (de Montalembert, Aggoun, Niakate, Szezepanski, & Bonnet, 2007; Félétou & Vanhoutte, 2006; Sandoo, Carroll, Metsios, Kitas, & Veldhuijzen van Zanten, 2011; Szijgyarto et al., 2013; Westman et al., 2013; Yinon et al., 2010). Endothelial dysfunction has also been associated with physiological states such as aging and menopause (Celermajer et al., 1994) and there may be some genetic predisposition as well (Chhabra, 2009). Moreover, cigarette smoking and a sedentary lifestyle may influence endothelial dysfunction (Félétou & Vanhoutte, 2006). In a 3-year follow-up study among hypertensive postmenopausal women, flow mediated dilation was significantly correlated with carotid intimamedia thickness which is positively associated with atherosclerosis progression and cardiovascular events (Rossi, Nuzzo, Olaru, Origliani, & Modena, 2011). Also, impaired FMD can independently predict in-stent stenosis even after single-vessel coronary interventions (Patti et al., 2005).

FMD Reliability Studies

Reliability, indicating the consistency of measurements obtained within or between days is important for assessment of any measurement error in any technique. (Atkinson & Nevill, 1998; Meirelles, Leite, Montenegro, & Gomes, 2007). This is particularly important for FMD where methodological variations can have a significant impact on interpreting and comparing FMD data (Thijssen et al., 2011). There have been several studies on the reliability of conduit arteries (brachial, radial, popliteal) which demonstrate varying degrees of reliability. For example, in two different studies the researchers found upper arm cuff occlusion was associated with intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) of 0.70 and 0.94 and coefficients of variation (CV) of 5.8% and 10%, respectively, for brachial artery FMD within-day measurements (Meirelles, Leite, Montenegro, & Gomes, 2007; Onkelinx et al., 2012). In another study, the brachial artery FMD performed with forearm cuff occlusion and between days, ICC was 0.92 (Welsch et al., 2002). Given that an ICC value above 0.5 demonstrates moderate reliability, these studies support the reliability of brachial artery FMD (Koo & Li, 2016). However, in one study (Malik et al., 2004) the brachial artery FMD ICC was 0.10 with upper arm cuff occlusion which indicates the poor reliability of this method. While some studies found good reliability of brachial artery FMD, there are studies that found variability in FMD due to different methodological approaches. For example, the reliability of manual and semi-automatic measurements of brachial artery FMD utilizing edge detection software had varied coefficients of variation of 24.8% and 6.7%, respectively (Woodman et al., 2001). The transducer can also impact the repeatability of brachial artery FMD. Also, a better outcome was discovered in one study with a 13-MHz transducer compared to a 7.5-MHz transducer (CV: 26.3% vs. 45.3%) of brachial artery FMD measurements on different days (Herrington et al., 2001). In another study, a 12-MHz transducer produced brachial artery FMD

with a CV of 11% (Onkelinx et al., 2012). Cuff occlusion duration can impact the reliability of FMD. As cuff inflation extends from 30 seconds to 5 minutes, there is an increase in the brachial artery FMD (Corretti et al., 2002). Further, after 4 to 5 minutes of forearm occlusion, arteries dilate the most, and longer occlusion times have no additional effects (Leeson et al., 1997). It has been noted that adhering to modern rules stringently produces remarkably reproducible results with a CV ranging from 11.6 to 16.1% (Ghiadoni et al., 2012). Also, the variation increases when subsequent FMD measurements are spaced more apart in time such as when measurements are taken in more than 4 weeks apart there is significant variation in brachial artery %FMD measurement (van Mil et al., 2016). Thus, methodological approaches have a significant impact on the reliability of FMD measures. However, there is very little information about the reliability of popliteal artery %FMD. One study found poor inter-day and intra-day reliability of popliteal artery %FMD in the prone position (McLay, 2012). However, according to the knowledge of the author, there has been no study to date on the popliteal artery FMD reliability in seated posture or studies which compared reliability of popliteal artery across multiple body positions (such as seated and prone), which signifies the importance of the current study.

Body Positions and Hemodynamics

Different body positions impose significant effects on the hemodynamics of the body. For example, blood pressure can be affected by changes in body position. For instance, blood pressure is higher when lying down than when seated (Eşer, Khorshid, Yapucu Güneş, & Demir, 2007; Netea, Lenders, Smits, & Thien, 2003). Further, heart rate is lower in the supine position compared to the seated position (Li et al., 2019). Stroke volume is greater in the supine position compared to the seated position (Bevegård, Holmgren, & Jonsson, 1960). Further cardiac output is higher in the supine or prone positions compared to the upright position during rest (Frey, Tomaselli, &

Hoffler, 1994; Leyk et al., 1994). Table 1. outlines these changes in cardiovascular variables between the supine versus upright or seated positions.

Author	Variable	Response
Li et al., 2019	Heart Rate	↓supine position ↑ sitting position
Netea et al., 2003, Eser et al., 2007	Blood Pressure	↑supine position ↓sitting position
Bevegard et al., 1960	Stroke volume	↑supine position ↓upright position
Frey et al., 1994, Leyk et al., 1994	Cardiac output	↑supine position ↓upright position

Table 1. Impact of Body Positions on Cardiovascular Variables

Methodological Consideration of FMD

Since the introduction of FMD in 1992, several research groups worldwide have adopted this technique to assess conduit artery endothelial function. Over the years, however, this technique has been modified to improve reproducibility and reliability, with methodological guidelines being introduced and updated (Corretti et al., 2002; Thijssen et al., 2011; Thijssen et al., 2019).

FMD is measured non-invasively by high resolution duplex ultrasonography, which involves simultaneous recording of artery lumen diameter and red blood cell velocity via brightness-mode (B-mode) imaging and pulsed-wave doppler waveforms, respectively (Thijssen et al., 2011). An optimal image is achieved when the probe is perpendicular to the artery of interest, such that the signals are bisecting the vessel at an insonation angle of $\leq 60^{\circ}$, and this insonation angle is achieved via 'steer' angle (Thijssen et al., 2019). Following the recommended guidelines after 2 min of baseline imaging to obtain resting blood velocity and artery diameter, a 5-minute

period of distal limb ischemia is induced by inflating a pneumatic cuff to suprasystolic level (~220mmHg) to occlude the blood flow to the upper or lower limb depending on the target artery (Thijssen et al., 2019). Following cuff pressure release, lumen diameter and blood velocity are continuously recorded for an additional 3 min and 5 min for the upper and lower limb, respectively. Subsequently, FMD is calculated as the relative (percentage) change in diameter from baseline to peak following cuff release.

Cuff Position

The cuff position (distal or proximal to artery of interest) can impact the magnitude, duration, nature, and even the clinical relevance of the FMD response (Green et al., 2014; Mullen et al., 2001; Naylor, Weisbrod, O'Driscoll, & Green, 2005; Patti et al., 2005). There are several studies where the FMD response is greater in proximal cuff occlusion compared to distal cuff occlusion due to higher shear stimulus during reactive hyperemia (Agewall et al., 2001; Berry, Skyrme-Jones, & Meredith, 2000; Betik et al., 2004; Mullen et al., 2001).

This leads to an idea to use proximal cuff position to be able to detect change in FMD response more precisely. However, in one study there was no difference in prognostic value between proximal and distal cuff occlusion (Green, Jones, Thijssen, Cable, & Atkinson, 2011). Moreover, a meta-analysis of cuff placement on the vasodilatory pathway of the endothelium reported a greater amount of NO-mediated vasodilation (~72%) during distal cuff occlusion compared to proximal cuff occlusion (Green et al., 2014). As a result, the standard positioning of cuff occlusion distal to the place on the artery that is being measured is recommended to ensure NO-mediated FMD response (Thijssen et al., 2019).

Cuff Occlusion Duration and Magnitude

Cuff occlusion period has a direct impact on the vasodilatory response of FMD (Leeson et al., 1997; Mullen et al., 2001; Naylor et al., 2005). According to one study, there was a similar stepwise rise in FMD response with a stepwise increase in cuff occlusion duration (0.5, 1.5, 2.5, 3.5, 4.5, and 8 minutes), although the plateau was observed between 4.5-8 (Leeson et al., 1997). As a result, 5 minutes of cuff occlusion duration is followed as standard guidelines. Furthermore, to prevent the inflow of arterial blood, the cuff occlusion pressure must remain at least 50 mmHg above the participant's systolic blood pressure. It is standard practice now to use an occlusion pressure of 220 mmHg as that ensures that the blood vessel is occluded in non-hypertensive individuals.

Cuff Deflation Measurement

The original study and guidelines for FMD in 2002 assessed the peak diameter of arteries at 60 and 120 seconds, respectively, following cuff occlusion (Corretti et al., 2002; Celermajer et al., 1992). However, using this time frame to measure peak artery diameter results in an underestimation of FMD. In one study, the researchers used various time windows, including 50-70, 70-90, 0-90, and 0-120 seconds, and they found low peak diameter compared to true peak FMD when measured at 60 seconds (Black, Cable, Thijssen, & Green, 2008). To make a successful estimation of true peak FMD, current guidelines support monitoring the peak diameter continuously for 3 minutes in upper limb arteries and 5 minutes in lower limb arteries following cuff deflation. As arteries in the legs have a significantly later peak compared to the arms, in case of popliteal/femoral arteries at least 5 minutes of observation is needed to ensure peak diameter (Tinken, Thijssen, Black, Cable, & Green, 2008).

Moreover, in early studies, the identification of peak diameter was based on electrocardiogram (ECG) based-gated analysis (Corretti et al., 2002). This manual analysis was

highly operator-dependent leading to observer error and inaccurate FMD data (Harris et al., 2010; Mancini, Yeoh, Abbott, & Chan, 2002; Preik et al., 2000; Williamson, Bronas, & Dengel, 2008; Woodman et al., 2001). Now, continuous data analysis being more time efficient, accurate, and available makes ECG-based data analysis no longer a mandatory tool for determining the peak diameter (Kizhakekuttu et al., 2010). Given the current availability of several edge detection and wall-tracking analysis systems and its superiority in terms of validity and bias, validated, accurate, and reproducible edge-detection and wall tracking systems should be used where possible (Green & Reed, 2006; Williamson et al., 2008).

Baseline Diameter

As FMD is the relative change in diameter post occlusion, the correct assessment of baseline diameter plays a crucial role in FMD measurement (Thijssen et al., 2019). According to the guidelines, baseline diameter should be recorded for 1 minute with a minimum of 30s before occluding the limbs (Thijssen et al., 2011). Most guidelines and studies calculate the baseline diameter before the start of ischemia, as at the end of ischemia the blood-flow becomes low resulting in arterial constriction (Dawson et al., 2012; Donald et al., 2008; Gori et al., 2008; Magda et al., 2013). Moreover, there is a strong inverse relationship between the baseline diameter and FMD, thus, allometric scaling is proposed to adjust for the influence of baseline diameter on FMD (Atkinson & Batterham, 2013; Black et al., 2008).

Edge Detection and Wall Tracking

Manual analysis of edge detection and wall tracking of arteries has higher chances of operator error and is more time consuming. To overcome these limitations, automated edge detection and wall tracking analysis methods are recommended for use because of their time efficiency, greater validity and reproducibility as compared to manual analysis (Preik et al., 2000; Thijssen et al., 2011; Williamson et al., 2008; Woodman et al., 2001).

Sheer Stimulus Normalization

At present there is no clear statistical strategy to account for the eliciting shear rate stimulus during FMD (Thijssen et al., 2019). Ratio normalization is statistically flawed due to its lack of validity, capability to interpret results of endothelial function and cardiovascular risk. Current guidelines recommend reporting the relevant shear rate stimulus (i.e., shear area-under-the-curve) and the peak diameter, as these data seem to have clinical prognostic values since previous work found that the shear stimulus during reactive hyperemia was related to cardiovascular risk in healthy and diseased populations (Huang et al., 2007; Mitchell et al., 2004; Paine et al., 2016; Philpott et al., 2009; Thijssen et al., 2019).

Subject Preparation

To maintain the validity and reproducibility of FMD, importance should be given to properly following subject preparation guidelines (Thijssen et al., 2019). Several factors such as food, alcohol, smoking, caffeine, drugs, and physical exercise can influence FMD directly or indirectly (Dawson, Green, Timothy Cable, & Thijssen, 2013; Green, Hopman, Padilla, Laughlin, & Thijssen, 2017; Hijmering et al., 2002; Papamichael et al., 2005). Current recommendations advise adhering to some guidelines, such as the subject remaining fasted for at least 6 hours prior to the test, avoiding caffeine, vitamin C, polyphenols, alcohol, and supplements affecting the cardiovascular system for 12 hours prior to the test, and refraining from physical activity for about 24 hours prior to the test, to avoid confounding factors. Also, participants should not smoke for 6 hours prior to the measurement. To reduce the influence of mental stress, subjects should rest in a quiet, preferably darkened room for a period of 10-15 min before the test (Ghiadoni et al., 2000;

Hijmering et al., 2002). To avoid diurnal variation, it is recommended by guidelines ((Thijssen et al., 2019) that tests be conducted at a similar time of day repeat assessments. However, there is no specific guidelines currently that says how close repeated measurements should be in terms of the time of the day. Thus, the researchers should make every attempt to have repeated measures on the same time of the day. Due to hormonal effects during the menstrual period in premenopausal women, FMD measurements should be assessed in a standardized part of the menstrual cycle (Williams et al., 2001).

Ultrasound Assessment of Flow-Mediated Dilation

Vascular ultrasonography measures the size and volume of blood flowing through vessels in the body using ultra-high frequency sound waves. The ultrasound machine has two modes, which are referred to as "duplex." One of them is B-mode (brightness mode), which produces a two-dimensional image of the vessel under investigation. The second method, known as pulsed wave doppler, records sound waves that are reflected off moving objects either toward or away from the probe (e.g., red blood cells). Pulse wave doppler technologies are used to assess the direction and velocity of blood flow in the blood vessels (Revzin et al., 2019).

Summary

Recently, there have been several studies to see the effects of prolonged sitting or sedentary lifestyles, which have focused on popliteal artery FMD as an indicator of vascular dysfunction (Boyle et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2021; Morishima et al., 2016; Morishima et al., 2017; Peddie et al., 2021; Restaino et al., 2016; Shivgulam et al., 2022).

One recent meta-analysis provides evidence that prolonged uninterrupted sitting has a more detrimental effect on FMD in lower limb arteries than upper limb arteries (Paterson et al., 2020). Also, there have been several studies on popliteal FMD that used different postures to measure the

FMD such as supine, prone, semi-recumbent, and seated posture (Kadoguchi et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2021; Morishima et al., 2016; Morishima et al., 2017; Morishima et al., 2020; Nakamura et al., 2019; O'Brien, Johns, Robinson, et al., 2019; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, et al., 2019; Parker et al., 2006; Peddie et al., 2021; Rakobowchuk et al., 2011; Restaino et al., 2016). As there is no fixed body position for measuring FMD in popliteal arteries, it is important to make some special considerations regarding the reliability and precision of these findings.

FMD was first measured in the brachial artery, which was further validated by an invasive assessment of endothelial function using coronary arteries (Anderson et al., 1995; Celermajer et al., 1992). However, there is little information about the reliability of the popliteal artery, specifically when measured in the seated position. There are several studies that have followed the popliteal FMD measurement in the seated position (Liu et al., 2021; O'Brien et al., 2020; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, et al., 2019; Wu, 2022). These studies also have showed variability in knee angle positioning. In one study the knee angle was 90 degrees, in some other studies the knee angle was 60-70 degrees (Liu et al., 2021; O'Brien et al., 2020; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, et al., 2021; O'Brien et al., 2020; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, et al., 2021; O'Brien et al., 2020; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, et al., 2021; O'Brien et al., 2020; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, et al., 2021; O'Brien et al., 2020; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, et al., 2021; O'Brien et al., 2020; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, et al., 2021; O'Brien et al., 2020; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, et al., 2021; O'Brien et al., 2020; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, et al., 2021; O'Brien et al., 2020; O'Brien, Johns, Williams, et al., 2019).

Moreover, in studies measuring the popliteal artery FMD after a long period of sitting time, the participants were moved back from the seated position to the lying position (Morishima et al., 2016; Restaino et al., 2015). This change in position is particularly important for the test assumptions and measurements. In the mechanism of FMD, shear stress plays a vital role during reactive hyperemia (Stoner, Tarrant, Fryer, & Faulkner, 2013). This shear stress stimulates the mechanoreceptors in the blood vessels, leading to the release of NO and a vasodilatory response occurs. This endothelial health is governed by the anti-atherogenic function of NO (Stoner et al., 2021). However, in the studies where there is a change in position from sitting to lying, especially

in prolonged uninterrupted sitting studies, the hemodynamic instability resulting from lifting the subject from seated to supine position is challenging (Horiuchi & Stoner, 2021; Morishima et al., 2016; Restaino et al., 2016). To ensure hemodynamic stability it takes time, usually more than 10 minutes (Stoner et al., 2021), which makes the results from sitting interruption studies problematic by masking the true interaction effect between prolonged sitting with its effects and interruption strategies. Considering this evidence, the purposes of this study are to measure the reliability of popliteal FMD measurements in seated position and to examine whether popliteal artery %FMD is different between the two body positions (seated & prone).

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

Participants

Based on previous studies related to FMD reliability, the number of participants was 20 (Liang et al., 1998; Pala et al., 2009; Sorensen et al., 1995). The inclusion criteria for participating included that participants were young (18-45 years of age), healthy, and nonobese (Body Mass Index (BMI) < 30 kg/m²). Further, females were only studied in their early follicular phase to control for the effects of the menstrual cycle on endothelial function. Criteria for exclusion included the following: individuals with known CVD, hypertension, or metabolic diseases; on any medication affecting hemodynamic responses at the time of screening; and females who were pregnant, breastfeeding, or taking any hormonal contraception pills at the time of recruitment. The confirmation of eligibility to participate was determined by a health history questionnaire. Recruitment was conducted by using the university Institutional Review Board (IRB)- approved flyers and advertisements using internet sources such as university announcement emails, social media, and via word of mouth. All experimental procedures and measurements conformed to the Declaration of Helsinki, and the university IRB has approved the experimental protocols.

Study Design

This study used an experimental, randomized, and within-subject research design and was conducted at the Cardiometabolic Laboratory at Old Dominion University. Participants came to the lab for a "consent" meeting, where the details of the study were explained to them. If the subject chose to sign the consent form and participate in the study, then a health history questionnaire form was filled out and height and weight were measured using a physician's scale (Detecto, Webb City, MO, USA) to determine the participant's eligibility. Then, the participants had two, 3-hour

visits to the laboratory within a period of 2 to 14 days. Further, body composition was assessed via air displacement plethysmography (Bod Pod, Cosmed USA Inc., Concord, CA) which took about 20 minutes. Moreover, participants were asked to track their physical activity levels for 2 days before beginning the study using an accelerometer (wGT3X-BT, ActiGraph, Pensacola, FL). Figure 1 demonstrates an example of the study design.
Figure 1. Experimental Design of the Study



Experimental Protocol

FMD of the popliteal artery was assessed according to the guidelines for the current standardized methodology (Corretti et al., 2002; Thijssen et al., 2019). To minimize confounding factors and their influence on FMD, participants were requested to refrain from engaging in any exercise 24 hours prior to the experiments and avoid the consumption of alcohol and caffeine for 12 hours beforehand. Smokers were required to abstain from smoking for at least six hours. Participants were given accelerometer (wGT3X-BT, ActiGraph, Pensacola, FL) to wear 48 hours prior to their study visit to monitor physical activity levels. Additionally, participants arrived at the lab after having refrained from eating for at least 6 hours, and the experiments were performed in a quiet, temperature-monitored (21-23°C) room after a period of rest for 15 minutes. Furthermore, as diurnal variation can affect FMD readings, the repeated measurements were performed at the same time of day (with a one-hour range) based on recommended guidelines (Thijssen et al., 2019). To minimize the potential confounding influence of exogenous sex hormones on vascular function, females were evaluated in the early-follicular phase (i.e., days 1-7 following the onset of menstruation) of their self-reported natural menstrual cycle (Thijssen et al., 2011).

During each visit, the subjects rested for 15 minutes in the seated or prone position and the body positions were randomized for the first trial on each visit to minimize the effect of order using the online randomization tool (www. Randomizer.org). For the subsequent 3 trials in each visit alternating body positions were assigned. For example, if the first trial was in the prone position based on randomization, the 2nd trial was performed in the seated position, 3rd trial in the prone position and finally, the 4th trial was performed in the seated position. Non-diagnostic 3 leads ECG were placed on the torso of the participant to monitor heart rate while continuing the procedure. After resting for 15 min, resting blood pressure was measured by an automated

sphygmomanometer (Welch Allyn, Skaneateles Falls, New York, USA) with an appropriately sized cuff. To measure the popliteal artery FMD, the ultrasonography probe was placed immediately distal to the popliteal fossa, and a pneumatic pressure cuff attached to a reliable rapid cuff inflation system (E20 and AG101; Hokanson, Bellevue, WA, USA) was placed around the calf distal to the popliteal fossa (~10cm) of right lower limb (Shivgulam et al., 2022). In the seated position, the knee remained at an anatomical 60–70-degree angle for all measurements. In the prone position, the knee remained at a zero-degree angle. Baseline arterial lumen diameter and blood velocity were measured for 3 minutes. While continuing to record arterial lumen diameter and blood velocity, the pressure in the cuff was rapidly inflated to ~220 mmHg and remained at that occlusion pressure for 5 minutes. Then, following the deflation of the pressure cuff, another 5 minutes of continuous ultrasound recording was done. Vascular measurements were recorded via duplex ultrasonography using an 11-MHz multi-frequency linear array probe connected to a highresolution ultrasound system (Logiq P9, GE Medical Systems, Milwaukee, WI) which is reliable and valid (Ratcliffe, Pawlak, Morales, Harrison, & Gurovich, 2017). Popliteal artery velocity was recorded at a pulsed frequency of 4.2 MHz and was corrected using an insonation angle of $\sim 60^{\circ}$ with the cursor set to mid-vessel. Offline analysis of vessel diameter and velocity was performed using Cardiovascular Suite FMD Studio (Quipu, Pisa, Italy). Participants then rested in the seated or prone position for 30 minutes to allow the blood flow and arterial dilatation to return to normal resting conditions, and the same procedure as described above was repeated 3 additional times (Harris, Padilla, Rink, & Wallace, 2007). Also, immediately before and after each FMD measurement blood pressure and heart rate were measured.

In the 2nd visit, all measurements were repeated utilizing the same pre-testing and procedural requirements as the first study visit.

Data Analysis

Ultrasound-derived vascular recordings were exported as video signals directly to a laptop that has reliable and valid automated commercial edge-detection and wall-tracking software combined with simultaneous doppler blood velocity waveform analysis (FMD Studio, Cardiovascular Suite, version 3.6, Quipu, Pisa, Italy) (Shivgulam et al., 2022). This software was used to measure the popliteal artery baseline diameter, peak diameter following cuff deflation, and minimum diameter during cuff inflation. Ultrasound images and video were recorded digitally for off-line analysis using the Elgato (Munich, Germany) video capture software. Following O'Brien et al. (O'Brien et al., 2020) %FMD was quantified in relative: [(post-cuff deflation peak diameter – baseline diameter) ÷ (baseline diameter) × 100%].

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using SigmaPlot software version 12.5 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA), IBM SPSS Statistics 28 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA), and Microsoft Excel 2205 (Microsoft, Seattle, Wash., USA). Descriptive statistics are used to describe the sample characteristics and are reported as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD). The normality of the data was checked using the Shapiro-Wilk test, as the estimated sample size is less than 50. A p value of ≤ 0.05 is considered significant. A three-way (2 body position x 2 visit x 2 trial) repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to identify differences between baseline diameter, %FMD, minimum diameter during cuff inflation, and maximum diameter following cuff deflation with variances such as body position, visit number, and trials obtained during the tests and retests. The reliability of %FMD, baseline diameter, post-cuff deflation peak diameter, and the minimum diameter following cuff inflation between the trials were assessed using intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) (Hendricks & Robey, 1936). These values were calculated using IBM

SPSS Statistics 28 based on absolute agreement and a 2-way mixed effects model. While interpreting ICC values, the following ranges were used where an ICC < 0.5 indicates poor reliability, an ICC value between 0.5 to 0.75 indicates moderate reliability, values between 0.75 and 0.9 indicate good reliability, and ICC > 0.90 indicates excellent reliability (Koo & Li, 2016).

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Characteristics of the Participants

An overview of characteristics of the 20 individuals (15 males & 5 females) who participated in the study is provided in Table 2.

Variables	Data
Age (years)	29±5
Body mass (kg)	71.9±10.1
Height (cm)	168.2±9.1
BMI (kg/m ²)	25.5±3.0
Body fat (%)	29.4±10.1
Fat-free Mass (%)	70.6±10.1
Resting HR (bpm)	65±10
Resting SBP (mmHg)	110±8
Resting DBP (mmHg)	71±6

Table 2. Subject Characteristics (n=20)

Notes: Values are expressed as mean ± SD (Standard deviation); BMI-Body Mass Index; SBP- Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP- Diastolic Blood Pressure; HR- Heart Rate; bpm- beats per minute

FMD Variables and Measurements

Baseline diameter, minimum diameter during cuff inflation, maximum diameter following cuff deflation, and %FMD during the seated and prone positions within visits and between visits are represented in Figure 2.

Figure 2. FMD Variables and Measures. 1st Visit 1st Trial (V1T1), 1st Visit 2nd Trial (V1T2), 2nd Visit 1st Trial (V2T1), and 2nd Visit 2nd Trial (V2T2)









Average baseline diameter and minimum diameter during cuff inflation of the popliteal artery were found to be normally distributed using Shapiro-wilk normality test (p = 0.112 and p = 0.068, respectively). However, peak diameter of the popliteal artery following deflation and %FMD were not normally distributed (p < 0.05). Natural log transformation and a log10 transformation were unsuccessful at normalizing these variables, thus we are reporting the non-transformed data (Brown-Forsythe test). No significant main effects for body position, visit , or trial on baseline diameter, minimum diameter during cuff inflation, or peak diameter post-cuff deflation were found. Further, no significant interactions existed. However, a significant main effect of visit (p = 0.031) was found for %FMD (Visit 1: 4.61±2.37 and Visit 2: 5.48±2.66). No other significant main effects or interactions were shown for %FMD (p > 0.05) (Figure 2).

Measures of Reliability of the Popliteal Artery FMD in the Prone Position

The ICC estimates and their 95% confidence intervals (CI) for baseline diameter, minimum diameter during cuff occlusion, peak diameter following cuff deflation, and %FMD in the prone position are shown in Table 3. Baseline diameter, minimum diameter during cuff inflation, and peak diameter following cuff deflation within and between visits were found to have high ICC estimates (>0.90), indicative of excellent reliability. %FMD within visits ICC estimates demonstrated poor-to-moderate reliability (1st visit ICC: 0.60, 2nd visit ICC: 0.25). %FMD between visits also demonstrated poor-to-moderate reliability, with ICC estimates below 0.75 for all measures.

			Between-Visit ICC (95%CI)	
Variable	Within-Visit ICC (95%CI)	Variable	Visit 2 Trial 1	Visit 2 Trial 2
%FMD	0.60	%FMD	0.68	0.35
(Visit 1)	(0.00-0.84)	(Visit 1 Trial 1)	(0.23-0.87)	(-0.53-0.73)
%FMD	0.25	%FMD	0.48	0.74
(Visit 2)	(-0.99-0.71)	(Visit 1 Trial 2)	(-0.36-0.80)	(0.33-0.90)
Baseline Diameter (mm)	0.99	Baseline Diameter (mm)	0.99	0.99
(Visit 1)	(0.98-1.00)	(Visit 1 Trial 1)	(0.97-1.00)	(0.98-1.00)
Baseline Diameter (mm)	1.00	Baseline Diameter (mm)	1.00	0.99
(Visit 2)	(0.99-1.00)	(Visit 1 Trial 2)	(0.99-1.00)	(0.98-1.00)
Peak Diameter (mm)	0.99	Peak Diameter (mm)	0.99	0.99
(Visit 1)	(0.98-1.00)	(Visit 1 Trial 1)	(0.97-1.00)	(0.95-1.00)
Peak Diameter (mm)	0.99	Peak Diameter (mm)	0.99	0.99
(Visit 2)	(0.98-1.00)	(Visit 1 Trial 2)	(0.99-1.00)	(0.98-1.00)
Minimum Diameter (mm)	0.99	Minimum Diameter (mm)	0.99	0.99
(Visit 1)	(0.97-1.00)	(Visit 1 Trial 1)	(0.97-1.00)	(0.98-1.00)
Minimum Diameter (mm)	0.99	Minimum Diameter (mm)	0.98	0.98
(Visit 2)	(0.97-1.00)	(Visit 1 Trial 2)	(0.96-0.99)	(0.96-0.99)

Table 3. ICC Values of FMD Measurements of Popliteal Artery in the Prone Position

Measures of Reliability of the Popliteal Artery in the Seated Position

The ICC estimates and their 95% confidence intervals for baseline diameter, minimum diameter during cuff occlusion, peak diameter following cuff deflation, and %FMD in the seated position are shown in Table 4. Baseline diameter, minimum diameter during cuff inflation and peak diameter following cuff deflation within visits and between visits were found to have high ICC estimates >0.90 indicative of excellent reliability. %FMD within visit ICC estimates demonstrated good reliability (1st Visit ICC: 0.86, 2nd Visit ICC: 0.89). %FMD between visit ICC estimates demonstrated moderate-to-good reliability with ICC estimates between 0.67-0.87 for all measures.

			Between-visit ICC (95%CI)	
Variable	Within visit- ICC (95%CI)	Variable	Visit 2 Trial 1	Visit 2 Trial 2
%FMD	0.86	%FMD	0.87	0.83
(Visit 1)	(0.64-0.94)	(Visit 1 Trial 1)	(0.66-0.95)	(0.39-0.94)
%FMD	0.89	%FMD	0.81	0.67
(Visit 2)	(0.72-0.96)	(Visit 1 Trial 2)	(0.47-0.93)	(0.09-0.87)
Baseline Diameter (mm)	0.98	Baseline Diameter (mm)	0.98	0.98 (0.96-0.99)
(Visit 1)	(0.96-0.99)	(Visit 1 Trial 1)	(0.96-0.99)	
Baseline Diameter (mm)	1.00	Baseline Diameter (mm)	0.99	0.98
(Visit 2)	(0.99-1.00)	(Visit 1 Trial 2)	(0.97-0.99)	(0.96-0.99)
Peak Diameter (mm)	0.98	Peak Diameter (mm)	0.99	0.98
(Visit 1)	(0.96-0.99)	(Visit 1 Trial 1)	(0.97-1.00)	(0.96-0.99)
Peak Diameter (mm)	1.00	Peak Diameter (mm)	0.99	0.99
(Visit 2)	(0.99-1.00)	(Visit 1 Trial 2)	(0.99-1.00)	(0.97-1.00)
Minimum Diameter (mm)	0.97	Minimum Diameter (mm)	0.98	0.98
(Visit 1)	(0.93-0.99)	(Visit 1 Trial 1)	(0.95-0.99)	(0.95-0.99)
Minimum Diameter (mm)	1.00	Minimum Diameter (mm)	0.99	0.99
(Visit 2)	(0.99-1.00)	(Visit 1 Trial 2)	(0.98-1.00)	(0.98-1.00)

Table 4. ICC Values of FMD Measurements of Popliteal Artery in the Seated Position

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

The main purpose of this study was to assess the reliability of the popliteal artery FMD measurement in the seated position within visits and between visits so that test-retest and visit-to-visit reliability of %FMD could be assessed. Moreover, this study also focused on investigating the difference in %FMD between the prone and seated positions. A total of eight trials across two visits (4 in the seated position and 4 in the prone position) were assessed. The findings indicate that the baseline diameter, peak diameter, minimum diameter, and %FMD of the popliteal artery had moderate to excellent reliability in the seated position both within and between visits (ICC > 0.67). Although the baseline diameter, peak diameter, and minimum diameter had excellent reliability within and between visits in the prone position, %FMD demonstrated poor-to-moderate reliability both within and between visits in the prone position. Furthermore, there were no significant differences in baseline diameter, peak diameter, or minimum diameter between body positions, visits, or trials. While %FMD was higher following the 2nd visit compared to the 1st visit, no other differences (body position or trial number) were shown.

Given that vascular shear rate is reduced in the seated position compared to the supine position (Trinity et al., 2014), and the important role that shear rate has on stimulating vasodilation of blood vessels (Smieško, Kožík, & Doležel, 1985), we expected that the seated position would result in a lower %FMD compared to the prone position. However, contrary to our hypothesis, popliteal artery %FMD was not found to be different between the seated and prone body positions. One other study (Soga et al., 2007) demonstrated similar findings in the brachial artery when comparing the seated versus supine %FMD by reporting no statistically significant difference. To our knowledge, this thesis is the first to report in the popliteal artery that there is no statistically significant difference in %FMD between the seated and prone positions.

This study reported ICC values to assess the reliability of popliteal artery FMD measures. The ICC values for baseline diameter, peak diameter following cuff deflation, and minimum diameter during cuff inflation all have excellent reliability (ICC > 0.9) in both positions (seated and prone position) within and between visits. These results confirm findings from McLay (McLay, 2012) in that popliteal artery FMD measurements made in the prone position demonstrate high reliability for baseline (ICC: 0.91) and peak (ICC: 0.86) diameters. This high reliability for the baseline and peak diameter has been supported in other studies examining other conduit arteries. For example, West et al. (West et al., 2004) found that the baseline and peak diameter of the brachial artery had a small coefficient of variation (2.7% and 2.5%, respectively) measured on different days, supporting the high reliability of the FMD technique in measuring the baseline and peak diameter of conduit arteries. The reliability of baseline and peak diameter measurement using the FMD technique was also supported by Harris et al. (Harris, Padilla, Hanlon, Rink, & Wallace, 2007), who reported a between-days ICC value of 0.96 and 0.93 for baseline and peak brachial artery diameter, respectively. Another study on brachial artery FMD showed an average ICC of 0.95 for baseline diameter and an average ICC of 0.93 for peak hyperemic diameter measured across testing sessions on different days (Richardson, 2016). These data also support the high reliability of the FMD technique in measuring the baseline and peak diameter of the conduit arteries. Collectively, these findings are comparable to the reliability that was found for the popliteal artery in the present thesis. However, we expand upon the current literature knowledge base by demonstrating that baseline diameter, peak diameter, and minimum diameter demonstrate excellent reliability between and within visits in both the seated and prone positions.

%FMD measured in the prone position demonstrated less reliable ICC values of 0.60 and 0.25 for within visit 1 and visit 2 trials, respectively. A range of ICC values from 0.35 to 0.74 was found in the prone position for between visits reliability, which indicates that reliability of the popliteal artery %FMD is poor-to-moderate (ICC<0.75) in this prone position. Collectively, these findings confirm the results from McLay (McLay, 2012) and McLay et al. (McLay, Nederveen, Pogliaghi, Paterson, & Murias, 2016) which found that the ICC values for popliteal artery %FMD in the prone position intra-day and inter-day were 0.36 & 0.25, respectively. Collectively, in the prone position within the popliteal artery, the present thesis found that baseline diameter and peak diameter had reliable ICC values; however, the %FMD was not found to be reliable. These results confirm data reported by McLay who also demonstrated reliable baseline and peak diameter ICC values but not reliable ICC values for %FMD in the prone position. Similarly, West et al. (West et al., 2004) demonstrated that baseline diameter had a small coefficient of variation while %FMD had a large coefficient of variation. Our data and others (McLay, 2012; West et al., 2004) suggest that baseline and peak diameter measurements are reliable. However, the difference in the change in diameter from baseline to peak is small. Thus, when calculating the % change in diameter, the error is amplified due to this small difference. This results in a worse ICC value for %FMD (McLay, 2012). On the other hand, the reliability for popliteal artery %FMD had moderate-togood reliability in the seated position for both within and between visits. The mechanism behind why the seated position but not prone position had a good %FMD reliability is not known but should be investigated in future studies. To our knowledge, no studies have examined the reliability of the popliteal artery in the seated position. Thus, this study appears to be the first to demonstrate that popliteal artery %FMD has good reliability in the seated position.

This present study was developed following the standard protocol to control for different variables that may have a confounding impact on the findings. For example, all the tests were performed in a quiet and temperature-monitored room. To minimize the effect of diurnal variation, all the tests were performed at the same time with a 1-hour period range. The gap between two visits was 2-14 days, and a single sonographer performed all FMD data recording and analysis. To avoid the impact of different variables, participants were instructed to arrive in a fasted state for a minimum of six hours, avoid exercise 24 hours prior to each scheduled exam, and refrain from consuming tobacco and caffeine for 6 and 12 hours, respectively, prior to the visit. Female participants were assessed during the first 7 days of their menstrual cycle to avoid potential influences of female sex hormone variation on FMD measures. Adhering to this protocol likely improved the reliability measures of the FMD technique in both positions, as others have demonstrated remarkable reproducibility with a CV ranging from 11.6 to 16.1% (Ghiadoni et al., 2012).

Limitations

This study has some limitations including that it was only conducted on people who were apparently healthy and self-reported no relevant co-morbidities. Although the participants fasted for 6 hours prior to the visit, their diets before each visit were not standardized, which might have influenced the FMD measures. One study demonstrated that low salt consumption (50 mmol Na/d) resulted in a lower brachial artery FMD compared to the usual salt consumption (150 mmol Na/d) diet (Dickinson, Keogh, & Clifton, 2009). Another study demonstrated increased brachial artery FMD in subjects who consumed a low-carbohydrate diet for 12 weeks compared to a low-fat diet (Volek et al., 2009). Thus, the food that is consumed prior to the FMD test may impact %FMD.

Conclusion

To conclude, this study demonstrated that popliteal artery %FMD has moderate-to-good reliability for both test-retest and visit-to-visit in the seated position. However, poor-to-moderate reliability was demonstrated when %FMD was performed in the prone position. One of the implications of this study would be that the popliteal artery FMD can be performed in the seated position following recommended guidelines which will help researchers conduct studies related to prolonged sitting or a sedentary lifestyle in the seated position. Moreover, the popliteal artery %FMD demonstrating less reliability in the prone position warns caution while using this technique to predict cardiovascular disease risk in clinical trials.

REFERENCES

- Agewall, S., Doughty, R., Bagg, W., Whalley, G., Braatvedt, G., & Sharpe, N. (2001). Comparison of ultrasound assessment of flow-mediated dilatation in the radial and brachial artery with upper and forearm cuff positions. *Clinical Physiology*, *21*(1), 9-14.
- Anderson, E. A., & Mark, A. L. (1989). Flow-mediated and reflex changes in large peripheral artery tone in humans. *Circulation*, 79(1), 93-100.
- Anderson, T. J., Uehata, A., Gerhard, M. D., Meredith, I. T., Knab, S., Delagrange, D., . . . Yeung,
 A. C. (1995). Close relation of endothelial function in the human coronary and peripheral circulations. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 26(5), 1235-1241.
- Archer, S. L., Huang, J., Hampl, V., Nelson, D. P., Shultz, P. J., & Weir, E. K. (1994). Nitric oxide and cGMP cause vasorelaxation by activation of a charybdotoxin-sensitive K channel by cGMP-dependent protein kinase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 91(16), 7583-7587.
- Atkinson, G., & Batterham, A. M. (2013). The percentage flow-mediated dilation index: a largesample investigation of its appropriateness, potential for bias and causal nexus in vascular medicine. *Vascular medicine*, 18(6), 354-365.
- Atkinson, G., & Nevill, A. M. (1998). Statistical methods for assessing measurement error (reliability) in variables relevant to sports medicine. *Sports Medicine*, *26*, 217-238.
- Bennett, M. R., Sinha, S., & Owens, G. K. (2016). Vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis. *Circulation research*, 118(4), 692-702.
- Berry, K. L., Skyrme-Jones, R. A. P., & Meredith, I. T. (2000). Occlusion cuff position is an important determinant of the time course and magnitude of human brachial artery flowmediated dilation. *Clinical Science*, 99(4), 261-267.

- Betik, A. C., Luckham, V. B., & Hughson, R. L. (2004). Flow-mediated dilation in human brachial artery after different circulatory occlusion conditions. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 286(1), H442-H448.
- Bevegård, S., Holmgren, A., & Jonsson, B. (1960). The effect of body position on the circulation at rest and during exercise, with special reference to the influence on the stroke volume. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, *49*(2-3), 279-298.
- Black, M. A., Cable, N. T., Thijssen, D. H., & Green, D. J. (2008). Importance of measuring the time course of flow-mediated dilatation in humans. *Hypertension*, 51(2), 203-210.
- Boyle, L. J., Credeur, D. P., Jenkins, N. T., Padilla, J., Leidy, H. J., Thyfault, J. P., & Fadel, P. J. (2013). Impact of reduced daily physical activity on conduit artery flow-mediated dilation and circulating endothelial microparticles. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *115*(10), 1519-1525.
- Brook, R., Grau, M., Kehrer, C., Dellegrottaglie, S., Khan, B., & Rajagopalan, S. (2005). Intrasubject variability of radial artery flow-mediated dilatation in healthy subjects and implications for use in prospective clinical trials. *The American journal of cardiology*, 96(9), 1345-1348.
- Broxterman, R. M., Witman, M. A., Trinity, J. D., Groot, H. J., Rossman, M. J., Park, S.-Y., ...
 Park, S. H. (2019). Strong relationship between vascular function in the coronary and brachial arteries: a clinical coming of age for the updated flow-mediated dilation test? *Hypertension*, 74(1), 208-215.
- Cahill, P. A., & Redmond, E. M. (2016). Vascular endothelium–gatekeeper of vessel health. *Atherosclerosis*, 248, 97-109.

- Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Gooch VM, Spiegelhalter DJ, Miller OI, Sullivan ID, Lloyd JK, Deanfield JE. Non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis. *Lancet.* 1992 Nov 7;340(8828):1111-5
- Celermajer, D. S., Sorensen, K. E., Spiegelhalter, D. J., Georgakopoulos, D., Robinson, J., & Deanfield, J. E. (1994). Aging is associated with endothelial dysfunction in healthy men years before the age-related decline in women. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 24(2), 471-476.
- Chhabra, N. (2009). Endothelial dysfunction-A predictor of atherosclerosis. *Internet Journal of Medical Update*, 4(1).
- Corretti, M. C., Anderson, T. J., Benjamin, E. J., Celermajer, D., Charbonneau, F., Creager, M. A., . . . Herrington, D. (2002). Guidelines for the ultrasound assessment of endothelial-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation of the brachial artery: a report of the International Brachial Artery Reactivity Task Force. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 39*(2), 257-265.
- Corson, M. A., James, N. L., Latta, S. E., Nerem, R. M., Berk, B. C., & Harrison, D. G. (1996).
 Phosphorylation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in response to fluid shear stress.
 Circulation research, 79(5), 984-991.
- Davignon, J., & Ganz, P. (2004). Role of endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, *109*(23_suppl_1), III-27-III-32.
- Dawson, E. A., Alkarmi, A., Thijssen, D. H., Rathore, S., Marsman, D. E., Cable, N. T., ... Green,
 D. J. (2012). Low-flow mediated constriction is endothelium-dependent: effects of exercise training after radial artery catheterization. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Interventions*, 5(5), 713-719.

- Dawson, E. A., Green, D. J., Timothy Cable, N., & Thijssen, D. H. (2013). Effects of acute exercise on flow-mediated dilatation in healthy humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 115(11), 1589-1598.
- Dawson, N. S., Zawieja, D. C., Wu, M. H., Granger, H. J., Dawson, N. S., Zawieja, D. C., . . .
 Granger, H. J. (2006). Signaling pathways mediating VEGF165-induced calcium transients and membrane depolarization in human endothelial cells. *The FASEB journal*, 20(7), 991-993.
- de Montalembert, M., Aggoun, Y., Niakate, A., Szezepanski, I., & Bonnet, D. (2007). Endothelialdependent vasodilation is impaired in children with sickle cell disease. *Haematologica*, 92(12), 1709-1710.
- Deanfield, J. E., Halcox, J. P., & Rabelink, T. J. (2007). Endothelial function and dysfunction: testing and clinical relevance. *Circulation*, *115*(10), 1285-1295.
- Debasso, R., Åstrand, H., Bjarnegård, N., Ahlgren, Å. R., Sandgren, T., & Länne, T. (2004). The popliteal artery, an unusual muscular artery with wall properties similar to the aorta: implications for susceptibility to aneurysm formation? *Journal of vascular surgery*, 39(4), 836-842.
- Dempsey, P. C., Larsen, R. N., Sethi, P., Sacre, J. W., Straznicky, N. E., Cohen, N. D., . . . Kingwell, B. A. (2016). Benefits for type 2 diabetes of interrupting prolonged sitting with brief bouts of light walking or simple resistance activities. *Diabetes care*, 39(6), 964-972.
- Dhingra, R., & Vasan, R. S. (2012). Age as a risk factor. Medical Clinics, 96(1), 87-91.
- Dickinson, K. M., Keogh, J. B., & Clifton, P. M. (2009). Effects of a low-salt diet on flowmediated dilatation in humans. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 89(2), 485-490.

- Dimmeler, S., Fleming, I., Fisslthaler, B., Hermann, C., Busse, R., & Zeiher, A. M. (1999). Activation of nitric oxide synthase in endothelial cells by Akt-dependent phosphorylation. *nature*, 399(6736), 601-605.
- Donald, A. E., Halcox, J. P., Charakida, M., Storry, C., Wallace, S. M., Cole, T. J., . . . Deanfield,
 J. E. (2008). Methodological approaches to optimize reproducibility and power in clinical studies of flow-mediated dilation. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *51*(20), 1959-1964.
- Doshi, S. N., Naka, K. K., Payne, N., Jones, C. J., Ashton, M., Lewis, M. J., & Goodfellow, J. (2001). Flow-mediated dilatation following wrist and upper arm occlusion in humans: the contribution of nitric oxide. *Clinical Science*, 101(6), 629-635.
- Ds, C., KE, S., VM, G., DJ, S., OI, M., JK, L., & JE, D. (1992). Non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis. *The Lancet*, 340(8828), 1111-1115.
- Eşer, İ., Khorshid, L., Yapucu Güneş, Ü., & Demir, Y. (2007). The effect of different body positions on blood pressure. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *16*(1), 137-140.
- Félétou, M., & Vanhoutte, P. M. (2006). Endothelial dysfunction: a multifaceted disorder (the Wiggers Award Lecture). American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 291(3), H985-H1002.
- Fletcher, G. F., Balady, G., Blair, S. N., Blumenthal, J., Caspersen, C., Chaitman, B., ... Pina, I.
 L. (1996). Statement on exercise: benefits and recommendations for physical activity programs for all Americans: a statement for health professionals by the Committee on Exercise and Cardiac Rehabilitation of the Council on Clinical Cardiology, American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 94(4), 857-862.

- Frey, M. A. B., Tomaselli, C. M., & Hoffler, W. G. (1994). Cardiovascular responses to postural changes: differences with age for women and men. *The Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 34(5), 394-402.
- Fuchs, F. D., & Whelton, P. K. (2020). High blood pressure and cardiovascular disease. *Hypertension*, 75(2), 285-292.
- Furchgott, R. F., & Zawadzki, J. V. (1980). The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. *nature*, 288(5789), 373-376.
- Ghiadoni, L., Donald, A. E., Cropley, M., Mullen, M. J., Oakley, G., Taylor, M., . . . Steptoe, A. (2000). Mental stress induces transient endothelial dysfunction in humans. *Circulation*, 102(20), 2473-2478.
- Ghiadoni, L., Faita, F., Salvetti, M., Cordiano, C., Biggi, A., Puato, M., . . . Ambrosio, G. (2012).
 Assessment of flow-mediated dilation reproducibility: a nationwide multicenter study. *Journal of hypertension*, 30(7), 1399-1405.
- Gokce, N., Keaney Jr, J. F., Hunter, L. M., Watkins, M. T., Menzoian, J. O., & Vita, J. A. (2002).
 Risk stratification for postoperative cardiovascular events via noninvasive assessment of endothelial function: a prospective study. *Circulation*, 105(13), 1567-1572.
- Gori, T., Dragoni, S., Lisi, M., Di Stolfo, G., Sonnati, S., Fineschi, M., & Parker, J. D. (2008). Conduit artery constriction mediated by low flow: a novel noninvasive method for the assessment of vascular function. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 51(20), 1953-1958.
- Grace, M. S., Dempsey, P. C., Sethi, P., Mundra, P. A., Mellett, N. A., Weir, J. M., . . . Kingwell,B. A. (2017). Breaking up prolonged sitting alters the postprandial plasma lipidomic profile

of adults with type 2 diabetes. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 102(6), 1991-1999.

- Green, D., & Reed, C. (2006). Novel methods for simultaneous assessment of peripheral conduit and resistance vessel function in vivo. *In vivo assessment of vascular function in humans*", *edited by Duffy SD, and Chin-Dusting J. New York, NY: Nova Science Publications*, 1-34.
- Green, D. J., Dawson, E. A., Groenewoud, H. M., Jones, H., & Thijssen, D. H. (2014). Is flowmediated dilation nitric oxide mediated? A meta-analysis. *Hypertension*, 63(2), 376-382.
- Green, D. J., Hopman, M. T., Padilla, J., Laughlin, M. H., & Thijssen, D. H. (2017). Vascular adaptation to exercise in humans: role of hemodynamic stimuli. *Physiological reviews*, 97(2), 495-528.
- Green, D. J., Jones, H., Thijssen, D., Cable, N., & Atkinson, G. (2011). Flow-mediated dilation and cardiovascular event prediction: does nitric oxide matter? *Hypertension*, 57(3), 363-369.
- Green, D. J., Maiorana, A., O'Driscoll, G., & Taylor, R. (2004). Effect of exercise training on endothelium-derived nitric oxide function in humans. *The Journal of physiology*, 561(1), 1-25.
- Green, D. J., Swart, A., Exterkate, A., Naylor, L. H., Black, M. A., Cable, N. T., & Thijssen, D.
 H. (2010). Impact of age, sex and exercise on brachial and popliteal artery remodelling in humans. *Atherosclerosis*, 210(2), 525-530.
- Hadi, H. A., Carr, C. S., & Al Suwaidi, J. (2005). Endothelial dysfunction: cardiovascular risk factors, therapy, and outcome. *Vascular health and risk management*, *1*(3), 183.
- Harris, R. A., Nishiyama, S. K., Wray, D. W., & Richardson, R. S. (2010). Ultrasound assessment of flow-mediated dilation. *Hypertension*, *55*(5), 1075-1085.

- Harris, R. A., Padilla, J., Hanlon, K. P., Rink, L. D., & Wallace, J. P. (2007). Reproducibility of the flow-mediated dilation response to acute exercise in overweight men. *Ultrasound in medicine & biology*, 33(10), 1579-1585.
- Hendricks, W. A., & Robey, K. W. (1936). The sampling distribution of the coefficient of variation. *The Annals of Mathematical Statistics*, 7(3), 129-132.
- Herrington, D. M., Fan, L., Drum, M., Riley, W. A., Pusser, B. E., Crouse, J. R., . . . Espeland, M.
 A. (2001). Brachial flow-mediated vasodilator responses in population-based research: methods, reproducibility and effects of age, gender and baseline diameter. *Journal of cardiovascular risk*, 8(5), 319-328.
- Hijmering, M. L., Stroes, E. S., Olijhoek, J., Hutten, B. A., Blankestijn, P. J., & Rabelink, T. J. (2002). Sympathetic activation markedly reduces endothelium-dependent, flow-mediated vasodilation. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 39(4), 683-688.
- Horiuchi, M., & Stoner, L. (2021). Effects of compression stockings on lower-limb venous and arterial system responses to prolonged sitting: a randomized cross-over trial. *Vascular medicine*, *26*(4), 386-393.
- Hotta, K., Batchelor, W. B., Graven, J., Dahya, V., Noel, T. E., Ghai, A., . . . Pragle, A. (2019).
 Daily passive muscle stretching improves flow-mediated dilation of popliteal artery and 6minute walk test in elderly patients with stable symptomatic peripheral artery disease. *Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine*, 20(8), 642-648.
- Huang, A. L., Silver, A. E., Shvenke, E., Schopfer, D. W., Jahangir, E., Titas, M. A., ... Raffetto,
 J. D. (2007). Predictive value of reactive hyperemia for cardiovascular events in patients with peripheral arterial disease undergoing vascular surgery. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 27*(10), 2113-2119.

- Inaba, Y., Chen, J. A., & Bergmann, S. R. (2010). Prediction of future cardiovascular outcomes by flow-mediated vasodilatation of brachial artery: a meta-analysis. *The international journal of cardiovascular imaging*, *26*(6), 631-640.
- Jiang, B., Seddon, M., Fok, H., Donald, A., & Chowienczyk, P. (2011). Flow-mediated dilation of the radial artery is offset by flow-induced reduction in transmural pressure. *Hypertension*, 57(6), 1145-1150.
- Joannides, R., Haefeli, W. E., Linder, L., Richard, V., Bakkali, E. H., Thuillez, C., & Lüscher, T. F. (1995). Nitric oxide is responsible for flow-dependent dilatation of human peripheral conduit arteries in vivo. *Circulation*, 91(5), 1314-1319.
- Joyner, M. J., & Dietz, N. M. (1997). Nitric oxide and vasodilation in human limbs. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 83(6), 1785-1796.
- Kadoguchi, T., Horiuchi, M., Kinugawa, S., & Okita, K. (2020). Heterogeneity in the vasodilatory function of individual extremities. *Vascular*, *28*(1), 87-95.
- Katzmarzyk, P. T., Powell, K. E., Jakicic, J. M., Troiano, R. P., Piercy, K., Tennant, B., & Committee, P. A. G. A. (2019). Sedentary behavior and health: update from the 2018 physical activity guidelines advisory committee. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 51(6), 1227.
- Kizhakekuttu, T. J., Gutterman, D. D., Phillips, S. A., Jurva, J. W., Arthur, E. I., Das, E., & Widlansky, M. E. (2010). Measuring FMD in the brachial artery: how important is QRS gating? *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 109(4), 959-965.
- Koo, T. K., & Li, M. Y. (2016). A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. *Journal of chiropractic medicine*, 15(2), 155-163.

- Kooijman, M., Thijssen, D., De Groot, P., Bleeker, M., Van Kuppevelt, H., Green, D., ... Hopman,
 M. (2008). Flow-mediated dilatation in the superficial femoral artery is nitric oxide mediated in humans. *The Journal of physiology*, 586(4), 1137-1145.
- Kruse, N. T., Hughes, W. E., Benzo, R. M., Carr, L. J., & Casey, D. P. (2018). Workplace strategies to prevent sitting-induced endothelial dysfunction. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 50(4), 801-808.
- Kuvin, J. T., Patel, A. R., Sliney, K. A., Pandian, N. G., Rand, W. M., Udelson, J. E., & Karas, R.
 H. (2001). Peripheral vascular endothelial function testing as a noninvasive indicator of coronary artery disease. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *38*(7), 1843-1849.
- Leeson, P., Thorne, S., Donald, A., Mullen, M., Clarkson, P., & Deanfield, J. (1997). Non-invasive measurement of endothelial function: effect on brachial artery dilatation of graded endothelial dependent and independent stimuli. *Heart*, 78(1), 22-27.
- Leyk, D., Eßfeld, D., Hoffmann, U., Wunderlich, H.-G., Baum, K., & Stegemann, J. (1994).
 Postural effect on cardiac output, oxygen uptake and lactate during cycle exercise of varying intensity. *European journal of applied physiology and occupational physiology*, 68, 30-35.
- Li, F.-K., Sheng, C.-S., Zhang, D.-Y., An, D.-W., Huang, J.-F., Li, Y., & Wang, J.-G. (2019).
 Resting heart rate in the supine and sitting positions as predictors of mortality in an elderly Chinese population. *Journal of hypertension*, *37*(10), 2024-2031.
- Liang, Y.-L., TEEDE, H., Kotsopoulos, D., SHIEL, L., Cameron, J. D., DART, A. M., & McGRATH, B. P. (1998). Non-invasive measurements of arterial structure and function: repeatability, interrelationships and trial sample size. *Clinical Science*, 95(6), 669-679.

- Liu, H., O'Brien, M. W., Johns, J. A., & Kimmerly, D. S. (2021). Does aerobic fitness impact prolonged sitting-induced popliteal artery endothelial dysfunction? *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 121(11), 3233-3241.
- Magda, S. L., Ciobanu, A. O., Florescu, M., & Vinereanu, D. (2013). Comparative reproducibility of the noninvasive ultrasound methods for the assessment of vascular function. *Heart and vessels*, *28*(2), 143-150.
- Malik, J., Wichterle, D., Haas, T., Melenovsky, V., Simek, J., & Stulc, T. (2004). Repeatability of noninvasive surrogates of endothelial function. *The American journal of cardiology*, 94(5), 693-696.
- Mancini, G., Yeoh, E., Abbott, D., & Chan, S. (2002). Validation of an automated method for assessing brachial artery endothelial dysfunction. *The Canadian journal of cardiology*, 18(3), 259-262.
- McLay, K. M. (2012). *Reliability of flow-mediated dilation measures in the popliteal artery and implications for use in clinical and research practices*: The University of Western Ontario (Canada).
- McLay, K. M., Nederveen, J. P., Pogliaghi, S., Paterson, D. H., & Murias, J. M. (2016). Repeatability of vascular responsiveness measures derived from near-infrared spectroscopy. *Physiological reports*, 4(9), e12772.
- Meirelles, C. d. M., Leite, S. P., Montenegro, C. A. B., & Gomes, P. S. C. (2007). Reliability of brachial artery flow-mediated dilatation measurement using ultrasound. *Arquivos brasileiros de cardiologia*, 89, 176-183.

- Mitchell, G. F., Parise, H., Vita, J. A., Larson, M. G., Warner, E., Keaney Jr, J. F., . . . Benjamin,E. J. (2004). Local shear stress and brachial artery flow-mediated dilation: the Framingham Heart Study. *Hypertension*, 44(2), 134-139.
- Morishima, T., Restaino, R. M., Walsh, L. K., Kanaley, J. A., Fadel, P. J., & Padilla, J. (2016).
 Prolonged sitting-induced leg endothelial dysfunction is prevented by fidgeting. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 311(1), H177-H182.
- Morishima, T., Restaino, R. M., Walsh, L. K., Kanaley, J. A., & Padilla, J. (2017). Prior exercise and standing as strategies to circumvent sitting-induced leg endothelial dysfunction. *Clinical Science*, 131(11), 1045-1053.
- Morishima, T., Tsuchiya, Y., Ueda, H., Tsuji, K., & Ochi, E. (2020). Sitting-induced endothelial dysfunction is prevented in endurance-trained individuals. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 52(8), 1770-1775.
- Mullen, M. J., Kharbanda, R. K., Cross, J., Donald, A. E., Taylor, M., Vallance, P., . . . MacAllister,
 R. J. (2001). Heterogenous nature of flow-mediated dilatation in human conduit arteries in
 vivo: relevance to endothelial dysfunction in hypercholesterolemia. *Circulation research*, 88(2), 145-151.
- Nakamura, A., Kajitani, S., Sato, K., Kanazawa, M., Kondo, M., Endo, H., & Nozaki, E. (2019).
 Decline of popliteal artery flow-mediated dilation with aging and possible involvement of asymmetric dimethylarginine in healthy men. *Journal of Medical Ultrasonics*, 46(4), 503-511.
- Naylor, L. H., Carter, H., FitzSimons, M. G., Cable, N. T., Thijssen, D. H., & Green, D. J. (2011). Repeated increases in blood flow, independent of exercise, enhance conduit artery

vasodilator function in humans. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 300(2), H664-H669.

- Naylor, L. H., Weisbrod, C. J., O'Driscoll, G., & Green, D. J. (2005). Measuring peripheral resistance and conduit arterial structure in humans using Doppler ultrasound. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 98(6), 2311-2315.
- Netea, R., Lenders, J., Smits, P., & Thien, T. (2003). Both body and arm position significantly influence blood pressure measurement. *Journal of human hypertension*, *17*(7), 459-462.
- Neunteufl, T., Heher, S., Katzenschlager, R., Wölfl, G., Kostner, K., Maurer, G., & Weidinger, F. (2000). Late prognostic value of flow-mediated dilation in the brachial artery of patients with chest pain. *American Journal of Cardiology*, 86(2), 207-210.
- Nishiyama, S. K., Walter Wray, D., Berkstresser, K., Ramaswamy, M., & Richardson, R. S. (2007). Limb-specific differences in flow-mediated dilation: the role of shear rate. *Journal* of Applied Physiology, 103(3), 843-851.
- O'Brien, M. W., Johns, J. A., Al-Hinnawi, A., & Kimmerly, D. S. (2020). Popliteal flow-mediated dilatory responses to an acute bout of prolonged sitting between earlier and later phases of natural menstrual and oral contraceptive pill cycles. *Journal of Applied Physiology, 129*(4), 637-645.
- O'Brien, M. W., Johns, J. A., Robinson, S. A., Mekary, S., & Kimmerly, D. S. (2019). Relationship between brachial and popliteal artery low-flow-mediated constriction in older adults: impact of aerobic fitness on vascular endothelial function. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *127*(1), 134-142.

- O'Brien, M. W., Johns, J. A., Williams, T. D., & Kimmerly, D. S. (2019). Sex does not influence impairments in popliteal endothelial-dependent vasodilator or vasoconstrictor responses following prolonged sitting. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *127*(3), 679-687.
- Onkelinx, S., Cornelissen, V., Goetschalckx, K., Thomaes, T., Verhamme, P., & Vanhees, L. (2012). Reproducibility of different methods to measure the endothelial function. *Vascular Medicine*, 17(2), 79-84.
- Padilla, J., Sheldon, R. D., Sitar, D. M., & Newcomer, S. C. (2009). Impact of acute exposure to increased hydrostatic pressure and reduced shear rate on conduit artery endothelial function: a limb-specific response. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 297(3), H1103-H1108.
- Paine, N. J., Hinderliter, A. L., Blumenthal, J. A., Adams Jr, K. F., Sueta, C. A., Chang, P. P., . . . Sherwood, A. (2016). Reactive hyperemia is associated with adverse clinical outcomes in heart failure. *American heart journal*, 178, 108-114.
- Pala, S., Kahveci, G., Akcakoyun, M., Kargin, R., Tigen, K., Tanalp, A. C., . . . Kirma, C. (2009).
 Reliability of ultrasonography in detecting flow mediated dilation. *The international journal of cardiovascular imaging*, 25(7), 705-711.
- Papamichael, C. M., Aznaouridis, K. A., Karatzis, E. N., Karatzi, K. N., Stamatelopoulos, K. S., Vamvakou, G., . . . Mavrikakis, M. E. (2005). Effect of coffee on endothelial function in healthy subjects: the role of caffeine. *Clinical Science*, 109(1), 55-60.
- Parker, B. A., Ridout, S. J., & Proctor, D. N. (2006). Age and flow-mediated dilation: a comparison of dilatory responsiveness in the brachial and popliteal arteries. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 291(6), H3043-H3049.

- Paterson, C., Fryer, S., Zieff, G., Stone, K., Credeur, D. P., Barone Gibbs, B., ... Stoner, L. (2020).The effects of acute exposure to prolonged sitting, with and without interruption, on vascular function among adults: a meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine*, *50*, 1929-1942.
- Patti, G., Pasceri, V., Melfi, R., Goffredo, C., Chello, M., D'Ambrosio, A., . . . Di Sciascio, G. (2005). Impaired flow-mediated dilation and risk of restenosis in patients undergoing coronary stent implantation. *Circulation*, 111(1), 70-75.
- Peddie, M. C., Kessell, C., Bergen, T., Gibbons, T. D., Campbell, H. A., Cotter, J. D., . . . Thomas, K. N. (2021). The effects of prolonged sitting, prolonged standing, and activity breaks on vascular function, and postprandial glucose and insulin responses: A randomised crossover trial. *PloS one, 16*(1), e0244841.
- Peretz, A., Leotta, D. F., Sullivan, J. H., Trenga, C. A., Sands, F. N., Aulet, M. R., . . . Kaufman,J. D. (2007). Flow mediated dilation of the brachial artery: an investigation of methods requiring further standardization. *BMC cardiovascular disorders*, 7(1), 1-8.
- Perticone, F., Ceravolo, R., Pujia, A., Ventura, G., Iacopino, S., Scozzafava, A., . . . Verdecchia,
 P. (2001). Prognostic significance of endothelial dysfunction in hypertensive patients. *Circulation*, 104(2), 191-196.
- Philpott, A. C., Lonn, E., Title, L. M., Verma, S., Buithieu, J., Charbonneau, F., & Anderson, T. J. (2009). Comparison of new measures of vascular function to flow mediated dilatation as a measure of cardiovascular risk factors. *The American journal of cardiology*, *103*(11), 1610-1615.
- Pohl, U., Holtz, J., Busse, R., & Bassenge, E. (1986). Crucial role of endothelium in the vasodilator response to increased flow in vivo. *Hypertension*, 8(1), 37-44.

- Preik, M., Lauer, T., Heiss, C., Tabery, S., Strauer, B., & Kelm, M. (2000). Automated ultrasonic measurement of human arteries for the determination of endothelial function. *Ultraschall in der Medizin*, 21(05), 195-198.
- Pyke, K. E., & Tschakovsky, M. E. (2005). The relationship between shear stress and flowmediated dilatation: implications for the assessment of endothelial function. *The Journal* of physiology, 568(2), 357-369.
- Rakobowchuk, M., Crozier, J., Glover, E. I., Yasuda, N., Phillips, S. M., Tarnopolsky, M. A., & MacDonald, M. J. (2011). Short-term unilateral leg immobilization alters peripheral but not central arterial structure and function in healthy young humans. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 111(2), 203-210.
- Rakobowchuk, M., Tanguay, S., Burgomaster, K. A., Howarth, K. R., Gibala, M. J., & MacDonald, M. J. (2008). Sprint interval and traditional endurance training induce similar improvements in peripheral arterial stiffness and flow-mediated dilation in healthy humans. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology.
- Ras, R. T., Streppel, M. T., Draijer, R., & Zock, P. L. (2013). Flow-mediated dilation and cardiovascular risk prediction: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *International journal of cardiology*, 168(1), 344-351.
- Ratcliffe, B., Pawlak, R., Morales, F., Harrison, C., & Gurovich, A. N. (2017). Internal validation of an automated system for brachial and femoral flow mediated dilation. *Clinical Hypertension*, 23(1), 1-6.

- Restaino, R. M., Holwerda, S. W., Credeur, D. P., Fadel, P. J., & Padilla, J. (2015). Impact of prolonged sitting on lower and upper limb micro-and macrovascular dilator function. *Experimental physiology*, 100(7), 829-838.
- Restaino, R. M., Walsh, L. K., Morishima, T., Vranish, J. R., Martinez-Lemus, L. A., Fadel, P. J., & Padilla, J. (2016). Endothelial dysfunction following prolonged sitting is mediated by a reduction in shear stress. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 310(5), H648-H653.
- Revzin, M. V., Imanzadeh, A., Menias, C., Pourjabbar, S., Mustafa, A., Nezami, N., . . . Pellerito,
 J. S. (2019). Optimizing image quality when evaluating blood flow at Doppler US: a tutorial. *Radiographics*, 39(5), 1501-1523.
- Richardson, T. (2016). Test Re-Test Reliability of Brachial Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation in Healthy Adults. Wake Forest University,
- Rossi, R., Nuzzo, A., Olaru, A. I., Origliani, G., & Modena, M. G. (2011). Endothelial function affects early carotid atherosclerosis progression in hypertensive postmenopausal women. *Journal of hypertension*, 29(6), 1136-1144.
- Sanada, H., Higashi, Y., Goto, C., Chayama, K., Yoshizumi, M., & Sueda, T. (2005). Vascular function in patients with lower extremity peripheral arterial disease: a comparison of functions in upper and lower extremities. *Atherosclerosis*, 178(1), 179-185.
- Sandoo, A., Carroll, D., Metsios, G. S., Kitas, G. D., & Veldhuijzen van Zanten, J. J. (2011). The association between microvascular and macrovascular endothelial function in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a cross-sectional study. *Arthritis research & therapy*, *13*(3), 1-5.
- Scotland, R. S., Madhani, M., Chauhan, S., Moncada, S., Andresen, J., Nilsson, H., . . . Ahluwalia,A. (2005). Investigation of vascular responses in endothelial nitric oxide

synthase/cyclooxygenase-1 double-knockout mice: key role for endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor in the regulation of blood pressure in vivo. *Circulation*, *111*(6), 796-803.

- Sen, S., Chandran, D. S., Jaryal, A. K., & Deepak, K. (2020). The low–flow-mediated arterial constriction in the upper limbs of healthy human subjects are artery specific and handedness independent. *Ultrasound in medicine & biology*, 46(8), 1949-1959.
- Shivgulam, M. E., O'Brien, M. W., Johns, J. A., Petterson, J. L., Wu, Y., Frayne, R. J., & Kimmerly, D. S. (2022). Impact of habitual sedentary patterns on popliteal artery endothelial-dependent vasodilation in healthy adults. *Vascular medicine*, 27(2), 120-126.
- Smieško, V., Kožík, J., & Doležel, S. (1985). Role of endothelium in the control of arterial diameter by blood flow. *Journal of Vascular Research*, 22(5), 247-251.
- Smith, D. L., & Fernhall, B. (2022). Advanced cardiovascular exercise physiology: Human Kinetics.
- Soga, J., Nishioka, K., Nakamura, S., Umemura, T., Jitsuiki, D., Hidaka, T., . . . Yoshizumi, M. (2007). Measurement of Flow-Mediated Vasodilation of the Brachial Artery A Comparison of Measurements in the Seated and Supine Positions. *Circulation Journal*, *71*(5), 736-740.
- Sorensen, K. E., Celermajer, D. S., Spiegelhalter, D. J., Georgakopoulos, D., Robinson, J., Thomas, O., & Deanfield, J. E. (1995). Non-invasive measurement of human endothelium dependent arterial responses: accuracy and reproducibility. *Heart*, 74(3), 247-253.
- Stanhewicz, A. E., Wenner, M. M., & Stachenfeld, N. S. (2018). Sex differences in endothelial function important to vascular health and overall cardiovascular disease risk across the

lifespan. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 315(6), H1569-H1588.

- Stankevičius, E., Kėvelaitis, E., Vainorius, E., & Simonsen, U. (2003). Role of nitric oxide and other endothelium-derived factors. *Medicina (Kaunas), 39*(4), 333-341.
- Stoner, L., Barone Gibbs, B., Meyer, M. L., Fryer, S., Credeur, D., Paterson, C., ... Horiuchi, M. (2021). A primer on repeated sitting exposure and the cardiovascular system:
 Considerations for study design, analysis, interpretation, and translation. *Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine*, 894.
- Stoner, L., Tarrant, M. A., Fryer, S., & Faulkner, J. (2013). How should flow-mediated dilation be normalized to its stimulus? *Clinical physiology and functional imaging*, 33(1), 75-78.
- Sun, D., Huang, A., Smith, C. J., Stackpole, C. J., Connetta, J. A., Shesely, E. G., . . . Kaley, G. (1999). Enhanced release of prostaglandins contributes to flow-induced arteriolar dilation in eNOS knockout mice. *Circulation research*, 85(3), 288-293.
- Szijgyarto, I. C., King, T. J., Ku, J., Poitras, V. J., Gurd, B. J., & Pyke, K. E. (2013). The impact of acute mental stress on brachial artery flow-mediated dilation differs when shear stress is elevated by reactive hyperemia versus handgrip exercise. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 38*(5), 498-506.
- Takase, B., Uehata, A., Akima, T., Nagai, T., Nishioka, T., Hamabe, A., . . . Kurita, A. (1998).
 Endothelium-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation in coronary and brachial arteries in suspected coronary artery disease. *American Journal of Cardiology*, 82(12), 1535-1539.
- Teixeira, A. L., Padilla, J., & Vianna, L. C. (2017). Impaired popliteal artery flow-mediated dilation caused by reduced daily physical activity is prevented by increased shear stress. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 123(1), 49-54.

- Thijssen, D. H., Black, M. A., Pyke, K. E., Padilla, J., Atkinson, G., Harris, R. A., . . . Green, D. J. (2011). Assessment of flow-mediated dilation in humans: a methodological and physiological guideline. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 300(1), H2-H12.
- Thijssen, D. H., Bruno, R. M., van Mil, A. C., Holder, S. M., Faita, F., Greyling, A., . . . Luscher,
 T. (2019). Expert consensus and evidence-based recommendations for the assessment of
 flow-mediated dilation in humans. *European heart journal*, 40(30), 2534-2547.
- Tinken, T. M., Thijssen, D. H., Black, M. A., Cable, N. T., & Green, D. J. (2008). Time course of change in vasodilator function and capacity in response to exercise training in humans. *The Journal of physiology*, 586(20), 5003-5012.
- Tousoulis, D., Antoniades, C., & Stefanadis, C. (2005). Evaluating endothelial function in humans: a guide to invasive and non-invasive techniques. *Heart*, *91*(4), 553-558.
- Trinity, J. D., Groot, H. J., Layec, G., Rossman, M. J., Ives, S. J., & Richardson, R. S. (2014). Impact of age and body position on the contribution of nitric oxide to femoral artery shear rate: implications for atherosclerosis. *Hypertension*, 63(5), 1019-1025.
- van Mil, A. C., Greyling, A., Zock, P. L., Geleijnse, J. M., Hopman, M. T., Mensink, R. P., . . . Thijssen, D. H. (2016). Impact of volunteer-related and methodology-related factors on the reproducibility of brachial artery flow-mediated vasodilation: analysis of 672 individual repeated measurements. *Journal of hypertension*, *34*(9), 1738-1745.
- Vita, J. A., & Keaney Jr, J. F. (2002). Endothelial function: a barometer for cardiovascular risk?. *Circulation*, *106*(6), 640-642.
- Volek, J. S., Ballard, K. D., Silvestre, R., Judelson, D. A., Quann, E. E., Forsythe, C. E., . . . Kraemer, W. J. (2009). Effects of dietary carbohydrate restriction versus low-fat diet on flow-mediated dilation. *Metabolism*, 58(12), 1769-1777.
- Vranish, J. R., Young, B. E., Kaur, J., Patik, J. C., Padilla, J., & Fadel, P. J. (2017). Influence of sex on microvascular and macrovascular responses to prolonged sitting. *American Journal* of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 312(4), H800-H805.
- Welsch, M. A., Allen, J. D., & Geaghan, J. P. (2002). Stability and reproducibility of brachial artery flow-mediated dilation. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 34(6), 960-965.
- West, S., Wagner, P., Schoemer, S., Hecker, K., Hurston, K., Likos Krick, A., . . . Hinderliter, A. (2004). Biological correlates of day-to-day variation in flow-mediated dilation in individuals with Type 2 diabetes: a study of test–retest reliability. *Diabetologia*, 47, 1625-1631.
- Westman, J., Hällgren, J., Wahlbeck, K., Erlinge, D., Alfredsson, L., & Ösby, U. (2013).
 Cardiovascular mortality in bipolar disorder: a population-based cohort study in Sweden. *BMJ open*, 3(4), e002373.
- Williams, M. R., Westerman, R. A., Kingwell, B. A., Paige, J., Blombery, P. A., Sudhir, K., & Komesaroff, P. A. (2001). Variations in endothelial function and arterial compliance during the menstrual cycle. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 86(11), 5389-5395.
- Williamson, E. B., Bronas, U. G., & Dengel, D. R. (2008). Automated edge detection versus manual edge measurement in analysis of brachial artery reactivity: a comparison study. *Ultrasound in medicine & biology*, 34(9), 1499-1503.

- Woodman, R., Playford, D., Watts, G., Cheetham, C., Reed, C., Taylor, R., . . . Mori, T. (2001). Improved analysis of brachial artery ultrasound using a novel edge-detection software system. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 91(2), 929-937.
- World Health Organization. (2021, February). *Cardiovascular diseases* (*CVDs*). <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-</u> (cvds)
- Wu, Y. (2022). The Acute and Prolonged Impact of Knee-Flexion Angle on Popliteal Hemodynamics and Flow-Mediated Dilation Responses to Sitting.
- Yinon, Y., Kingdom, J. C., Odutayo, A., Moineddin, R., Drewlo, S., Lai, V., . . . Hladunewich, M.
 A. (2010). Vascular dysfunction in women with a history of preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction: insights into future vascular risk. *Circulation*, 122(18), 1846-1853.

VITA Taskina Akhter 4700 Powhatan Ave, Norfolk, VA 23529

EDUCATION Master of Science, Exercise Science **Old Dominion University** Thesis: Reliability of Popliteal Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation in the Seated Position

Bachelor of Medicine & Surgery (MBBS) / Doctor of Medicine (MD)

Sher-E-Bangla Medical College, University of Dhaka, Bangladesh

EXPERIENCE

Graduate Teaching Assistant, Old Dominion University, Department of Human Movement August 2023 – December 2023 Sciences

- Demonstrated practical use of exercise testing equipment to undergraduate students.
- Laboratory reports and skill tests evaluation and grading

Graduate Research Assistant, Cardiometabolic Research Laboratory, Department of Human Movement Sciences, January 2022 – May 2023

- Performing several tests, including resting metabolic rate measurement using indirect calorimetry, body composition assessment via air displacement plethysmography, and blood flow assessment via FMD ultrasonography for research subjects
- Collecting and analyzing data from research studies in the laboratory using different software, Subject recruitment

Assistant Surgeon/ Physician, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare of the People's Republic of Bangladesh, Bangladesh, May 2020 – May 2021

Management and treatment of patients, providing emergency medical care, giving discharge and advice to patients.

PUBLICATIONS

- Reynolds, L. J., Powell, K. R., Akhter, T., Twiddy, H. M., & Wilson, P. B. (2023). A single bout of breast milk expression does not increase resting metabolic rate. American Journal of Human Biology, e23874. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.23874
- Lutfor, A. B., Afroz, S., Mahmud, A. M., Selim, T., Akhter, T., Sultana, T., & Taskeen, S. (2021). Nocardia infection causing non-healing surgical wounds: A case series from Bangladesh. International Journal of Infectious Diseases, 110, 272-278.
- Saha, R., Lutfor, A. B., Deb, A., Akhter, T., & Sultana, T. (2019). Current antimicrobial susceptibility pattern of uropathogens in a maternal and child health care hospital in Bangladesh. Indian Journal of Microbiology Research, 6(2), 135-141.

LICENSES & CERTIFICATIONS

- Certificate of full Registration as a Medical Practitioner, Reg. no. 81972 Bangladesh Medical and Dental Council (BMDC) (2017-present)
- Emergency Care & Safety Institute (ECSI) Certificate Old Dominion University (2022-2024)

May 2016

Graduation: January 2024